STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS 

This case arose from a fatal vehicle collision on Interstate 75. App. 5. 

Respondent Jackson, as personal representative of the estate of one of the victims, 

brought suit alleging Petitioner Florida Highway Patrol (FHP) was negligent in 

reopening the interstate following a brush fire on Paynes Prairie Preserve in 

Alachua County. App. 5. Smoke from the brush fire was a contributing factor in 

two separate vehicle crashes (one on I-75 and one on US-441). Id. Both roads were 

temporarily closed “due to the crashes and visibility concerns.” Id. Several hours 

later, having weighed the safety risk of keeping the interstate closed (and thereby 

diverting traffic to smaller roads), FHP determined that visibility conditions had 

improved and reopened I-75. Id. Soon after, there was a sudden deterioration in 

visibility, and a fatal, multiple-vehicle crash occurred. Id. Vontavia Robinson was 

one of the fatalities, and his estate’s personal representative subsequently filed the 

underlying negligence case against FHP. Id. 

FHP moved for summary judgment in the negligence suit on alternate 

grounds: 1) FHP did not owe a common-law duty of care to Robinson, and 2) 

sovereign immunity shielded FHP’s discretionary decision to reopen I-75. Id. The 

trial court denied the motion on the grounds that “[d]isputed issues of material fact 

exist, including, but not limited to, the extent and adequacy of [FHP]’s continued 
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monitoring of the roadway that prevent the entry of Final Summary Judgment.” Id. 

at 13. FHP appealed that order to the First District under Florida Rule of Appellate 

Procedure 9.130(a)(3)(C)(xi), which authorizes appellate review of non-final 

orders which determine “as a matter of law” that a party is not entitled to sovereign 

immunity. App. 5.  

Finding itself “constrained” by this Court’s precedent addressing appellate 

review of non-final orders denying other forms of immunity, id. at 13, the First 

District dismissed FHP’s appeal for lack of jurisdiction “because the order under 

review did not explicitly determine, as a matter of law, that FHP was not entitled to 

sovereign immunity,” id. at 2. In his thorough opinion, however, Judge Winokur 

detailed a “perceived conflict” in this Court’s precedent addressing interlocutory 

review of denials of various forms of immunity. Id. at 16. Specifically, Judge 

Winokur noted that, although this Court has required an explicit statement on the 

face of the order regarding the inapplicability of workers’ compensation immunity 

as a matter of law, id. at 11, in a more recent decision from 2014, this Court did not 

impose such a requirement in the context of a denial of sovereign immunity, id. at 

14-15. In light of this conflict, it was “unclear” if this Court “intend[ed] to signal a 

departure” from its earlier caselaw addressing what is required for a court to have 

jurisdiction over a non-final order denying immunity “as a matter of law.” Id. at 
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16. Notably, all three judges on the panel concurred to certify a question of great 

public importance to this Court to address and resolve the issue. Id.  

FHP now seeks this Court’s discretionary review on the basis that the First 

District’s decision: 1) passed upon a question of great public importance, and 2) 

presents an express and direct conflict with this Court’s decision in Beach 

Community Bank v. City of Freeport, 150 So. 3d 1111 (Fla. 2014). Because 

jurisdictional briefing is not authorized for certified questions of great public 

importance, see Fla. R. App. P. 9. 120(d), this brief will address only the express 

and direct conflict basis for this Court’s discretionary review. 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

This Court should grant review. The decision below expressly and directly 

conflicts with this Court’s decision in Beach Community Bank v. City of Freeport, 

150 So. 3d 1111 (Fla. 2014), and that conflict warrants review because it 

implicates a significant issue of statewide impact.  

Specifically, the First District held that it did not have jurisdiction under 

Rule 9.130(a)(3)(C)(xi) to review the underlying non-final order because the trial 

court “did not explicitly determine, as a matter of law, that FHP was not entitled to 

sovereign immunity.” App. 5 (emphasis added). This squarely conflicts with Beach 

Community, which did not impose any explicit-statement requirement in applying 
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Rule 9.130. Rather, this Court held that where a party’s claim to sovereign 

immunity rests “on a pure question of law,” then an order denying entitlement to 

that immunity “falls squarely within” the parameters of Rule 9.130(a)(3)(C)(xi). 

150 So. 3d at 1113.  

As to this Court’s discretion, this case warrants review because a sovereign 

entity’s ability to seek interlocutory review of a trial court’s erroneous denial of 

immunity presents a significant issue of statewide impact. First, where a defendant 

is entitled to sovereign immunity from suit as a matter of law, it should have the 

ability to resolve that legal question at the earliest possible stage of litigation—

especially where, as in this case, the record demonstrates that sovereign immunity 

applies, and no further factual development is necessary to resolve the legal 

question. Second, imposing an explicit-statement requirement in order for appellate 

jurisdiction to vest—as the First District did here—elevates form over substance. 

As a result, a party’s ability to appeal a denial of sovereign immunity turns on the 

facial sufficiency of the trial court’s order, rather than whether the party’s claim to 

immunity presents solely a question of law. Finally, all parties involved in 

litigation where a governmental entity has asserted sovereign immunity have a 

strong interest in resolving entitlement to that immunity as early in the course of 

litigation as possible. Indeed, litigating a case through trial to final judgment only 
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to have it reversed on appeal due to a defendant’s sovereign immunity results in 

wasted resources for all parties involved, including the judicial branch. This Court 

has jurisdiction and should grant review. 

ARGUMENT 

I. THE FIRST DISTRICT’S DECISION EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS 

WITH A DECISION OF THIS COURT ON THE SAME QUESTION OF LAW. 

This Court’s conflict jurisdiction exists to resolve irreconcilable holdings 

within Florida on the same question of law. Wainwright v. Taylor, 476 So. 2d 669, 

670 (Fla. 1985); see also Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. Here, the requisite conflict 

exists because the First District’s decision expressly and directly conflicts on the 

same point of law with this Court’s decision in Beach Community Bank v. City of 

Freeport, 150 So. 3d 1111 (Fla. 2014).  

Specifically, the First District determined it did not have jurisdiction under 

Rule 9.130(a)(3)(C)(xi) to review the underlying non-final order because the trial 

court “did not explicitly determine, as a matter of law, that FHP was not entitled to 

sovereign immunity.” App. 5 (emphasis added); see also id. at 14 (“[T]he absence 

of a trial court ruling on immunity as a matter of law means we lack jurisdiction to 

consider this appeal.”) (Bilbrey, J., concurring in result with opinion). This holding 

directly and expressly conflicts with Beach Community, which this Court issued 

the exact same day it amended Rule 9.130(a)(3)(C)(xi) to authorize non-final 
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appeals of denials of sovereign immunity. This Court described the newly 

amended Rule as “permit[ting] district courts to review nonfinal orders of 

decisions determining entitlement to sovereign immunity where the case involves a 

pure legal question.” 150 So. 3d at 1113. In applying the newly-adopted Rule 

amendment, this Court did not impose any explicit-statement requirement. Rather, 

Beach Community held that where a party’s claim to sovereign immunity rests “on 

a pure question of law,” then an order denying entitlement to that immunity “falls 

squarely within” the parameters of Rule 9.130(a)(3)(C)(xi). 150 So. 3d at 1113 (“In 

this case, the First District concluded that the City’s claim to sovereign immunity 

rested on a pure question of law. We agree. Because this case falls squarely within 

the new rule amendment, we determine that the City should be entitled to the 

benefit of the new rule.”). Notably, a review of the underlying order in Beach 

Community Bank reveals a pro forma order denying a motion to dismiss.1 Like the 

                                                 
1  “The practice of consulting records of the Supreme Court as an aid to 

a proper understanding and interpretation of its published opinions is a 

common practice among the courts of this state, and has proved helpful in 

determining the applicability of a published decision to the facts of a given 

case.” Mitchell v. Gillespie, 161 So. 2d 842, 843 (Fla. 1st DCA 1964). 

Additionally, this Court may take judicial notice of the underlying order in 

Beach Community Bank, which was part of this Court’s records in Beach 

Community Bank v. City of Freeport, Fla., Case No. SC13-455. See 

§ 90.202(6), Fla. Stat. (“A court may take judicial notice of the . . . [r]ecords 

of any court of this state or of any court of record of the United States or of 

any state, territory, or jurisdiction of the United States.”). 
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order at issue in the present case, it implicitly denied a claim of sovereign 

immunity as a matter of law—that is, it contained no express mention of sovereign 

immunity, nor any explicit statement that it was denying entitlement to that 

immunity as matter of law. Yet this Court held that the Beach Community order 

fell “squarely within” the parameters of Rule 9.130(a)(3)(C)(xi). 150 So. 3d at 

1113.  

In short, as the decision below noted, Beach Community “permitted 

interlocutory appellate review of an order denying immunity without any 

discussion of whether the order under review ‘explicitly’ stated that the 

governmental entity was not entitled to sovereign immunity as a matter of law.” 

App. 14-15. In light of this, the First District’s decision, which imposed an 

explicit-statement requirement, expressly and directly conflicts with Beach 

Community, which did not impose any such requirement. 

II. THE ABILITY OF A PARTY TO SEEK INTERLOCUTORY REVIEW WHEN A 

TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY DENIES A CLAIM OF SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY 

IS A SIGNIFICANT ISSUE WARRANTING THIS COURT’S REVIEW. 

This Court should grant review because a sovereign entity’s ability to seek 

interlocutory review of a trial court’s erroneous denial of immunity presents a 

significant issue of statewide impact. As this Court has noted, sovereign immunity 

is grounded in the constitutional principle of separation of powers and is “part of 
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the public policy of the State.” Spangler v. Fla. State Tpk. Auth., 106 So. 2d 421, 

424 (Fla. 1958); see also Commercial Carrier Corp. v. Indian River Cty., 371 So. 

2d 1010, 1022 (Fla. 1979) (recognizing that “certain functions of coordinate 

branches of government may not be subjected to scrutiny by judge or jury as to the 

wisdom of their performance”). The express and direct conflict created by the First 

District’s decision warrants review for three main reasons.  

First, where a defendant is entitled to sovereign immunity as a matter of law, 

it should have the ability to resolve that legal question at the earliest possible stage 

of litigation. This stems from the fact that, upon establishing that sovereign 

immunity applies as a matter of law, “the sovereignly immune entity is both 

immune from liability and immune from suit.” Rodriguez v. Miami-Dade Cty., 117 

So. 3d 400, 410 (Fla. 2013) (Canady, J., concurring in result only). From that 

point, “the erroneous continuation of legal proceedings against the immune 

governmental entity constitutes irreparable harm because the full benefit of the 

legal immunity from suit cannot be restored on appeal.” Id. And this principle 

applies especially where the record demonstrates that sovereign immunity applies, 

and no further factual development is necessary to resolve the legal question. See 

App. 13 (“Any dispute related to the quality of FHP’s monitoring the interstate 

does not seem to relate to the question of whether FHP is immune from suit. 
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Instead, these disputed facts relate to the question of FHP’s negligence, rather than 

its immunity from suit.”).  

Second, imposing an explicit-statement requirement in order for appellate 

jurisdiction to vest under Rule 9.130(a)(3)(C)(xi) elevates form over substance by 

mandating the use of “magic words” by a trial court. As the decision below noted, 

this “permits a trial court to frustrate a party’s legitimate assertion of immunity 

simply by failing to provide reasons” for its denial of a motion asserting sovereign 

immunity. App. 12; see, e.g., Miami-Dade County v. Pozos, No. 3D15-2167, 2017 

WL 621233 at *10 (Fla. 3d DCA Feb. 15, 2017), motion for rehearing & 

rehearing en banc pending, (Rothenberg, J., dissenting) (“The trial court’s order 

denying the County’s motion for summary judgment provides this Court with 

absolutely no guidance. The order does not contain the basis for the trial court’s 

ruling, perform even a perfunctory analysis, indicate whether there were any 

material factual issues in dispute or factual issues generally reserved for the trier of 

fact, or specify which of the prong(s) of the analysis the County failed to 

establish.”). For that reason, a party’s ability to appeal a non-final order denying 

entitlement to sovereign immunity should not turn on the facial sufficiency of the 

trial court’s order. Instead, it should turn on whether the party’s claim to immunity 

presents the district court with “solely a question of law.” Keck v. Eminisor, 104 



10 
 

So. 3d 359, 370 (Fla. 2102) (Pariente, J., concurring).  

Finally, this case warrants review because the issue presented reaches 

beyond just the parties to this case. Sovereign immunity can be claimed by the 

State and its agencies or subdivisions; this includes “executive departments, the 

Legislature, the judicial branch (including public defenders), and the independent 

establishments of the state, including state university boards of trustees; counties 

and municipalities; and corporations primarily acting as instrumentalities or 

agencies of the state, counties, or municipalities, including the Florida Space 

Authority.” § 768.28(2), Fla. Stat.. These governmental entities have a strong 

interest in resolving legal entitlement to immunity as early in the course of 

litigation as possible. And this is true for plaintiffs bringing suit against these 

entities as well. Indeed, litigating a case through trial to final judgment only to 

have it reversed on appeal due to a defendant’s sovereign immunity results in 

wasted resources for all parties involved, including the judicial branch. 

For these reasons, this case warrants this Court’s review. 

CONCLUSION 

This Court has jurisdiction and should grant review.