STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS 

This matter arises from a wrongful death claim filed by Respondent Lashonta 

Renea Jackson (“Jackson”) as personal representative of the estate of Vontavia 

Robinson (“Decedent”) against the Petitioner Florida Highway Patrol (“FHP”) 

alleging negligence in reopening Interstate 75 (I-75) after a fire reduced visibility in 

Alachua County.  References to Petitioner’s Appendix will be designated by the 

abbreviation “App. ___” followed by PDF page number; references to Petitioner’s 

Brief on Jurisdiction will be designated by the abbreviation “P. Brief ___” followed 

by the document page number.  

On January 29, 2012, FHP reopened I-75, which the Alachua County Sheriff’s 

Office had earlier closed due to smoke which had created conditions that completely 

obscured visibility for drivers. App. 5. Multiple crashes and eleven deaths, including 

the death of Vontavia Robinson subsequently occurred. App. 5. When choosing to 

reopen the highway, FHP did not follow the operational checklist for Smoke/Fog 

Incidents located in its own policy manual. FHP was also made aware that there was 

extremely limited visibility on the road. After reopening I-75, FHP did not monitor 

the roadway or warn drivers of the fatal hazards. See App. 10. FHP reopened the 

highway despite the National Weather Service’s warnings, as well as the Florida 

Forest Service’s warnings regarding extremely low visibility and dangerous driving 

conditions. Jackson alleged that FHP’s decision to reopen I-75—despite the clear 
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danger and without adequate monitoring and warning to approaching drivers — was 

an operational choice pursuant to the assumption of a special tort duty, that is not 

protected by sovereign immunity. See Pollock v. Fla. Dep’t of Highway Patrol, 882 

So. 2d 928 (Fla. 2004).  

FHP filed a motion for summary judgement, claiming its discretionary 

decision to re-open the interstate was protected by sovereign immunity. App. 5. The 

trial court denied FHP’s motion, because this cause of action involves various forms 

of negligence, which are disputed on the basis of fact, that extend beyond the 

protection of sovereign immunity. App. 5. FHP appealed the trial court’s order to 

the First District Court of Appeal. App. 5.  

The First District dismissed FHP’s appeal for lack of jurisdiction on the 

grounds that the trial court did not explicitly determine, as a matter of law, that FHP 

was not entitled to sovereign immunity, consistent with the requirements of Fla. R. 

App. P. 9.130. App. 5. Petitioner requests that this Court invoke discretionary 

jurisdiction on the grounds of express and direct conflict and/or on a certified 

question of great public importance. P. Brief 3. In conflict with Fla. R. App. P. 9.120, 

Petitioner filed the initial brief on April 11, 2018, forty-seven days after rendition of 

the First District decision on February 23, 2018. Respondent replies herein in 

opposition.   
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SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

This Court should not grant discretionary review. FHP petitions this Court for 

review of the district court’s decision under Article V, §§ 3(b)(3)-(4), Fla. Const., 

alleging that the First District’s decision is in express and direct conflict with Beach 

Cmty. Bank v. City of Freeport, 150 So. 3d 1111 (Fla. 2014), on the issue of whether, 

absent an explicit denial of sovereign immunity “as a matter of law,” governmental 

entities may seek an interlocutory appeal of a nonfinal order. P. Brief 3. However, 

FHP has not shown express and direct conflict between Beach Community and the 

First District’s decisions on the same issue of law. The Supreme Court of Florida 

does not overrule itself sub silentio, and the District Court itself acknowledged the 

coherence of prior case law and, in doing so, denied FHP’s appeal for lack of 

jurisdiction. See Puryear v. State, 810 So. 2d 901, 905 (Fla. 2002); App. 4, 8, 16.  

Petitioner also argues that the ability of an entity to seek interlocutory review 

when a trial court erroneously denies sovereign immunity is an important issue and 

that the trial court erroneously denied sovereign immunity in this case. P. Brief 7. 

This argument is not appropriate for two reasons. First, the trial court did not 

erroneously deny sovereign immunity here, because FHP was not entitled to 

sovereign immunity due to mixed issues of fact and law related to warnings and 

continued monitoring of the highway. The trial court’s timely denial of sovereign 

immunity was thus proper and well within its discretion. 
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Second, despite Petitioner’s admitted knowledge that jurisdictional briefs are 

not permitted to address certified questions of great public importance, Petitioner 

nonetheless advocates that this Court invoke discretionary jurisdiction about a 

“significant issue of statewide impact.” P. Brief 3; see also Fla. R. App. P. 9.120(d). 

The question certified by the First District misstates the factual and legal reality of 

this case, because the record does not clearly demonstrate that FHP is entitled to 

immunity from suit on every allegation at issue. See App. 5-6 n. 1. Since there is no 

express and direct conflict, and because the trial court’s denial of sovereign 

immunity was proper, this Court should not invoke jurisdiction.   

ARGUMENT 

A. No Express and Direct Conflict  

The First District erred in perceiving an express and direct conflict between 

Beach Community and other case law. Beach Community Bank v. City of Freeport, 

150 So. 3d 1111, 1113 (Fla. 2014) (determining that defendant’s claim of immunity 

rested on a pure question of law); but see Hastings v. Demming, 694 So. 2d 718, 720 

(Fla. 1994); Reeves v. Fleetwood Homes of Florida, Inc., 889 So. 2d 812, 821 (Fla. 

2004); Fla. Dep’t of Corrs. v. Culver, 716 So. 2d 768, 769 (Fla. 1998) (holding that 

the trial court must specifically state that the defense of immunity is not available 

“as a matter of law” in its order to allow for district court of appeal jurisdiction under 

Fla. R. App. P. 9.130(a)(3)(C)(vi)). Without the explicit “as a matter of law” 
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language, interlocutory appeals are not permitted. See id. Miami-Dade County v. 

Pozos, 42 Fla. L. Weekly D418, D419 (Fla. 3d DCA Feb. 15, 2017), applies the 

same rule and confirms that a defendant in Florida may not appeal unless the trial 

court’s order explicitly states, “as a matter of law,” that the defendant is not entitled 

to immunity.   

In Beach Community, the Court remained consistent with prior case law and 

with Fla. R. App. P.  9.130, which dictates that for an interlocutory appeal of a non-

final order, that order must determine, as a matter of law, whether a party is entitled 

to sovereign immunity. Beach Community, 150 So. 3d at 1112. Beach Community 

focuses on the issue of whether the City’s claim rested on a pure question of law and 

whether the claim brought against it asserted a breach of functional or operational 

duties. Id. at 1113. There is nothing in the opinion to suggest that the “as a matter of 

law” language was not present in the order being discussed, nor that the 

determination was not reached in some legally tantamount manner by looking at the 

record. See id. Thus, not only is there no express contradiction of precedent requiring 

the “as a matter of law” language, there is also no suggestion that the Court had the 

intention of removing the well-established requirement for this specific language. In 

perceiving a conflict, the First District went outside of the opinion in Beach 

Community and read in a conflict that was never expressly stated, or even implicitly 

suggested.  
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  The Supreme Court of Florida does not overrule itself sub silentio. Puryear 

v. State, 810 So. 2d 901, 905 (Fla. 2002). Without an express contradiction of prior 

case law, it is improper to assume that the Court had the intention of overruling or 

signaling a departure from a well-established requirement. Id.  

Petitioner claims that the issue of sovereign immunity in this case rests on a 

pure question of law and that this Court should therefore review the order denying 

entitlement to that immunity.  P. Brief 6. Neither the record nor the trial court’s order 

supports this conclusion. Notwithstanding Respondent’s position that the immunity 

determination was a mixed question of fact and law, and hence non-appealable, the 

law still clearly requires that an order must indicate that immunity is denied “as a 

matter of law” for the order to be appealable. See Beach Community, 150 So. 3d at 

1112. In the absence of such language, parties must afford due deference to the trial 

court’s discretion in determining what issues of fact remain for the jury, and whether 

those fact issues are determinative in whole or in part to the claim of immunity. Here, 

it is clear that the trial court determined that the existence of sovereign immunity 

was, at best, a mixed question of fact and law regarding the “extent and adequacy” 

of Petitioner’s duties.  App. 5, 13.  

B. Trial Court Did Not Erroneously Deny Sovereign Immunity  

The trial court in this case did not erroneously deny immunity to FHP. 

Considering that there is no express or direct conflict between the First District’s 
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decision and prior case law, the trial court’s decision to deny sovereign immunity 

was proper and consistent with prior law, and the trial court’s ruling should be 

interpreted accordingly. The language of the trial court’s denial of Petitioner’s 

motion for summary judgment on the basis of sovereign immunity specifically 

identifies the kinds of material issues of fact that relate to both the existence of a 

duty (the “extent. . . of [FHP]’s continued monitoring of the roadway”) (emphasis 

added) and the performance of  FHP’s operational functions (“the adequacy. . . of 

[FHP]’s continued monitoring of the roadway”) (emphasis added), which are not 

issues precluded from suit by the defense sovereign immunity. App. 13; see Beach 

Community Bank, 150 So.3d at 1114. Trial court judges are best situated to have 

knowledge and understanding of the issues before them, as well the applicable case 

law and procedural rules in the cases over which they preside.  

The First District should have followed the example set by the Fourth District 

in Cantalupo v. Lewis, 47 So. 3d 896, 899 (Fla. 4th DCA 2010), and read Beach 

Community to avoid conflict instead of deriving that Beach Community implied a 

conflict simply because it did not explicitly impose a rule or state facts relating to 

the language of the trial court’s order. Even the trial court in the instant case 

recognized the coherence of prior case law, which is why, despite certifying a 

question of great public importance to this court, the First District dismissed FHP’s 

appeal. App. 5.  
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Petitioner argues that it is in the best interest of all parties to have a 

determination as early as possible on the question of whether sovereign immunity 

applies. In the instant case, this determination has already been properly made by 

the trial court, which denied FHP’s motion for summary judgement because it found 

that the question of sovereign immunity was one at least partially contingent on 

issues of fact for the jury. App. 4-5, 7. Further response to this argument would not 

only come perilously close to arguing the certified question of great public 

importance but would also not be in the best interest of judicial economy.  

Finally, Petitioner claims that the record demonstrates that sovereign 

immunity applies, but that claim is patently untrue based on the facts of this case and 

the nature of FHP’s choice to re-open the roadway, as well as the nature of the duty 

undertaken. Contra P. Brief 1. Petitioner’s argument that requiring an explicit 

statement by the trial court regarding the denial of sovereign immunity would 

“elevate form over substance” is baseless, because substantive issues of fact may 

well be determinative in the applicability of sovereign immunity. Contra P. Brief 4. 

Indeed, the trial court found that this case is not one where immunity can be granted 

as a pure matter of law. App. 4-5.  
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CONCLUSION 

Wherefore, this Court does not have jurisdiction and should deny review.